City of PCB City Hall

. 17007 PCB
Panama City Beach A
PCB, FL. 32413
P: (850) 233-5100
F: (850) 233-5108
www.pcbfl.gov

CITY OF PANAMA CITY BEACH
PLANNING BOARD MEETING MINUTES
November 12, 2025
MINUTES TO THE REGULAR MEETING

The meeting was called to order by Chairman Wakstein at 1:00 p.m. and Ms. Deese was
asked to call the roll. Members present were Mr. Painter, Mr. Thomas, Mr. Coleman,

Mr. Morehouse, Mr. Wittstruck, Mr. Bishop, and Chairman Wakstein. Mr. Wittstruck led the
Pledge of Allegiance.

ITEM NO. 3 Approval of October 8, 2025, Planning Board Meeting Minutes
Chairman Wakstein asked if there were any comments or corrections to the meeting

minutes. A motion to approve was made by Mr. Coleman, seconded by Mr. Wittstruck.
Ms. Deese called the roll.

Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Thomas Yes
Mr. Coleman Yes Mr. Bishop Yes
Mr. Painter Yes ' Mr. Morehouse Yes
Chairman Wakstein Yes

ITEM NO. 4 Public Comments — Non-Agenda Items

There were no public comments.

ITEM NO. 5 The St. Joe Company is requesting approval for a Master Plan
Modification for the East Lake Creek Il Planned Unit Development
(PUD). The subject property is approximately 108.3 acres located
along Wild Heron Way and North of Highway 98
(parcel 35291-005-000 and portions of parcels 35351-005-000,
35291-000-000, and 35351-000-000).

Chairman Wakstein introduced the item and read aloud the proceedings for a quasi-
judicial hearing. All participants who identified as affected parties were sworn in for
testimony. The application and staff report were added to the record. Ms. Chester
acknowledged that all requirements of the application notices were satisfied. Ms. Deese
was asked to call Jennings Act.

Mr. Thomas had nothing to disclose. Mr. Bishop had nothing to disclose.

Mr. Wittstruck had nothing to disclose. Mr. Coleman had nothing to disclose.
Mr. Morehouse had nothing to disclose. Mr. Painter had nothing to disclose.
Chairman Wakstein had nothing to disclose.

Mr. Leonard disclosed that he lives within 300’ of the property and is an affected party.

Mr. Ray Greer, acting agent for the applicant, explained that the request is to modify the
2021 approved master plan by exchanging 2.3 acres of residential land with 2.3 acres of
open space. No density increases or additional units are proposed. The residential area
would allow a maximum of three (3) to four (4) single-family homes.

Mr. Coleman asked about stormwater and sewer impacts as well as if there would be any
changes to roadway design. Mr. Greer stated that there will be no net impact to
stormwater and sewer and no proposed changes to the roadway design.

Page 1 of 5
Minutes of the Planning Board
November 12, 2025



Chairman Wakstein asked if density would change. Mr. Greer confirmed that there are no
proposed increases in density.

Mr. Thomas asked whether the modification would allow public access to the Lake Powell
shoreline or make it completely private. He expressed concern that the modification may
eliminate shoreline access. Mr. Greer stated the design has not yet been finalized.

Ms. Chester presented the staff report. She said that the proposed change meets
R-1a (single family, low density zoning) and Lake Powell Overlay requirements. Staff had
no objection to the modification request.

Chairman Wakstein called for adversely affected parties at this time.

Sharon Michalik, 1566 Salamander Drive, raised concerns regarding water pressure,
Lake Powell Residential Golf Community Development District (CDD) roadway agreement
and responsibilities, traffic impacts, and potential stormwater issues. She inquired about a
traffic impact study and plan for protection of the lake from stormwater.

David Holt, Chairman of the (CDD), expressed concerns about the safety of the S- curve
in Wild Heron Way, past investments in roadway resurfacing, maintenance sharing
agreement, and lake impacts.

Chairman Wakstein asked about ownership of Wild Heron Way. Mr. Holt explained that
the road is currently private: the section from Highway 98 to the bridge is to be turned over
to Panama City Beach or Bay County, the bridge would remain with the CDD, and the
north side of the bridge should be turned over to Bay County.

Chairman Wakstein opened the floor for public comment. Hearing none, he opened the
floor for rebuttal.

Mr. Greer stated that the modification is to an existing master plan and the first phase of
planning. Stormwater cannot run into Lake Powell, sewer and water pressure will be
addressed during the development order phase, and the parcels will pay to the CDD.

Ms. Michalik stated that construction access should be settled before approval.

Mr. Coleman and Chairman Wakstein discussed that access should be handled civilly
and the Board cannot consider it at this stage.

Mr. Holt said that the modification will create an entrance not previously anticipated.
Chairman Wakstein noted that a maximum of four (4) homes is planned.

Chairman Wakstein concluded the evidentiary portion of the hearing and opened Board
deliberation. He noted that the modification is essentially an equal land swap and reduces
density potential.

Mr. Wittstruck agreed that it is an “even swap.”
Mr. Coleman noted that there are valid stormwater concerns, but that those would be

addressed during development order review.

Mr. Coleman made a motion to approve the modification request, it was seconded by
Mr. Morehouse.

Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Thomas No
Mr. Coleman Yes Mr. Bishop Yes
Mr. Painter Yes Mr. Morehouse Yes
Chairman Wakstein Yes

The motion to approve passed with a vote of (6-1).

Page 2 of 5
Minutes of the Planning Board

November 12, 2025




ITEM NO. 6 Alicia Mackin Maney as personal representative and as a trustee
is requesting approval for a Small-Scale Plan amendment to
change the Future Land Use Map designation from Mixed Use to
Single Family Residential and a Rezoning from PUD (Planned
Unit Development) to R-1a (Single Family, Low Density). The
property is approximately 2.091 acres located at Moonlight Bay
Drive (parcel 32733-010-000)

Chairman Wakstein introduced the item and confirmed that the audience understood the
quasi-judicial procedures previously read. All participants who identified as affected parties
were sworn in for testimony. The application, comments, and staff report were added to
the record. Mr. Leonard acknowledged that all requirements of the application notices
were satisfied. Ms. Deese was asked to call Jennings Act.

Mr. Wittstruck had nothing to disclose. Mr. Thomas had nothing to disclose.
Mr. Coleman had nothing to disclose. Mr. Bishop had nothing to disclose.

Mr. Painter had nothing to disclose. Mr. Morehouse visited the dead end of the
street adjacent to the property. Chairman Wakstein spoke with Robert Carroll
concerning a discrepancy in acreage of the property.

Robert Carroll, acting agent for the applicant, explained that acreage discrepancies in the
surveys result from shifting waterlines. He gave a brief history of the property, noted
historic access easements, and stated the intent to downzone to R-1a (single family, low-
density). No development is proposed at this time, only the rezoning.

Mr. Leonard presented the staff report and recommended for approval. The subject parcel
was not assigned a use in the original master plan. Access issues would be resolved when
an application for development is made.

Mr. Coleman asked if a road could be built without a development order. Mr. Leonard

replied that at minimum, a review from Public Works is required, even for a single-family
driveway.

Mr. Coleman inquired about an initial agreement for the entire PUD to access Clara
Avenue only. Mr. Leonard stated that the reason was because there would not be
development of single family only it was for development of the rest of the PUD. One of the
proposals included mid-rise condominiums, so there were discussions that increased
traffic should use a northern extension of Clara Avenue rather than Moonlight Bay Drive.

Board Discussion involved access easements, development order requirements, and
PUD consistency. Mr. Davis clarified that the Board is only to hear the rezoning request
not access. The parcel functions as an “orphaned” piece within the PUD. In his opinion
R-1a is consistent with surrounding properties and would not be considered spot zoning.

Chairman Wakstein called for adversely affected parties at this time.

Liz Swain, one (1) of the four (4) beneficiaries of the trust and estate, said she was
unaware of the rezoning request until her attorney discovered it the previous Friday. She
stated she is neither for nor against the request but asked for a 60-day continuance for her
counsel to review. She also noted that the authorization form in the application was tied to
a previous, now-terminated contract and did not cover rezoning.

Chairman Wakstein opened Board deliberation.

Mr. Thomas said certain issues should be resolved before the Board proceeds. Chairman
Wakstein agreed, stating the Board should err on the side of caution.

Stan Chapman, attorney for the trustee, stated that the applicant has no intention of
abandoning the easement and that trust and estate matters should not prevent the
Planning Board from making a recommendation to the City Council. He asked that the
continuance request be denied.

Page 3 of 5
Minutes of the Planning Board

November 12, 2025



Chairman Wakstein asked whether the Board could approve the request with a stipulation
pending resolution of the dispute between the trust and its beneficiaries. Mr. Davis
explained that the dispute between the beneficiary and the trust concerns who has the
authority to file the rezoning application. He noted that this issue must be resolved before
the City Council vote, and it is up to the Board to decide whether to proceed.

Mr. Wittstruck and Mr. Thomas agreed that the Board should pause and ensure

everything is in order before giving a recommendation to the City Council.

Mr. Wittstruck made a motion to table the request until the December meeting, it was
seconded by Mr. Morehouse.

Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Thomas | Yes
Mr. Coleman Yes Mr. Bishop Yes
Mr. Painter Yes Mr. Morehouse Yes
Chairman Wakstein Yes

The motion to approve passed with a vote of (7-0).

Chairman Wakstein requested that an agreement be made between the parties before
the December meeting.

ITEM NO. 7 Ordinance No. 1670- National Flood Insurance Program
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PANAMA CITY BEACH,
FLORIDA, AMENDING CHAPTER 8 OF THE CITY’S CODE OF
ORDINANCES AND SECTIONS 3.02.03 AND 3.02.09 OF THE
CITY’S LAND DEVELOPMENT CODE PROVIDING FOR NEW
DEFINITIONS AND DETERMINATIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL
DAMAGE AND SUBSTANTIAL IMPROVEMENT; REPEALING ALL
ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY:
SCRIVENER’S ERRORS; LIBERAL INTERPRETATION;
MODIFICATIONS; CODIFICATION; AND PROVIDING FOR AN
EFFECTIVE DATE.

Mr. Davis explained that the ordinance updates definitions and procedures for substantial
damage and improvement to comply with state requirements.

Mr. Coleman made a motion to approve, it was seconded by Mr. Wittstruck.

Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Thomas Yes
Mr. Coleman Yes Mr. Bishop Yes
Mr. Painter Yes Mr. Morehouse Yes
Chairman Wakstein Yes

The motion to approve passed with a vote of (7-0).

ITEM NO. 8 Ordinance No. 1671- Recovery Houses
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PANAMA CITY BEACH,
FLORIDA, AMENDING CHAPTERS 1, 5, AND 9 OF THE LAND
DEVELOPMENT CODE TO ADD A DEFINITION FOR CERTIFIED
RECOVERY RESIDENCE AND ESTABLISH A PROCESS FOR THE
REVIEW OF REASONABLE ACCOMMODATION REQUESTS FOR
CERTIFIED RECOVERY RESIDENCES PURSUANT TO SECTION
397.487, FLORIDA STATUTES; REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES IN
CONFLICT; PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, SCRIVENER'’S
ERRORS, LIBERAL INTERPRETATION, MODIFICATIONS, AND
CODIFICATION; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

Page 4 of 5
Minutes of the Planning Board

November 12, 2025



Mr. Davis explained that the ordinance adopts state changes and establishes procedures
for reasonable accommodation requests for certified recovery residences.

Mr. Morehouse made a motion to approve, it was seconded by Mr. Painter.

Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Thomas Yes
Mr. Coleman Yes Mr. Bishop Yes
Mr. Painter Yes Mr. Morehouse Yes
Chairman Wakstein Yes

The motion to approve passed with a vote of (7-0).

ITEM NO. 9 Ordinance No. 1672- Continued Public Hearings
AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF PANAMA CITY BEACH,
FLORIDA, AMENDING SECTION 10.03.00 OF THE LAND
DEVELOPMENT CODE RELATED TO CONTINUING PUBLIC
HEARINGS; REPEALING ALL ORDINANCES IN CONFLICT;
PROVIDING FOR SEVERABILITY, SCRIVENER’S ERRORS,
LIBERAL INTERPRETATION, MODIFICATIONS, AND
CODIFICATION; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE.

Mr. Davis described the ordinance as a housekeeping update formalizing a long-standing
City practice regarding continued public hearings.

Mr. Painter made a motion to approve, it was seconded by Mr. Bishop.

Mr. Wittstruck Yes Mr. Thomas Yes
Mr. Coleman Yes Mr. Bishop Yes
Mr. Painter Yes Mr. Morehouse Yes
Chairman Wakstein Yes

The motion to approve passed with a vote of (7-0).

ITEM NO. 10 Code Enforcement Update

Mr. Smith provided an update from mid- September through mid- October. Most of the
Division’s neighborhood enforcement efforts were in response to tall grass, detrimental
conditions and unpermitted activities. Enforcement of City ordinances on the beach were

primarily in response to dogs and holes dug on the beach. The Division participated in ATV
training and Spring Break preparations.

The meeting adjourned at 2:03 p.m.

(07/#] day of D%emée/r , 2025.

Tl e

Nlelissa Deese, Secretary

DATED this_

C qcf//W7

Page 5 of 5
Minutes of the Planning Board

November 12, 2025



